
AGENDA 

Glasgow Virginia 
Town Council Meeting 

 7:00pm Tuesday September 8th, 2020 
Meeting called by Mayor Malcolm “Shane” Watts 

1. Work Session at 6:00pm
A. New Charter Discussion - To join the Zoom meeting ID: 926 5040 2685
https://zoom.us/j/92650402685

2. Call to Order – called by Mayor Malcolm “Shane” Watts for Regular Called Meeting at 7:00 PM
A. To join please click on the link below or join Zoom with meeting ID: 945 2566 5023
https://zoom.us/j/94525665023

3. Presentations
A. Marissa Helmick Fiscal Year 2019 – Robinson Farmer Cox

4. Proclamations
A. Eric S. Pollitt – Resolution in Appreciation For Outstanding Public Service

5. Public Hearing
A. N/A

6. Review of Minutes
A. Regular Council Meeting August 11th, 2020

Reports and Updates 

7. Committee/ Commission/ Staff Reports
A. Police Report
B. Community Development Committee

i. Rockin’ the Gorge
C. Farmer’s Market
D. Public Works & Utilities

i. CARES Renovations in Town Hall
ii. Bar Screen Update

E. Treasurer Report
i. Bills over $500
ii. Delinquent Taxes TACS (tax sale and admin fee)

F. Planning Commission
i. Ordinance Updates

G. Town Manager Report
i. Town Manager Advertisement
ii. Charter Review Committee

8. Old Business Updates
A. VDOT Multi-Purpose Trail



AGENDA 

Glasgow Virginia 
Town Council Meeting 

 7:00pm Tuesday August 11th, 2020 
Meeting called by Mayor Malcolm “Shane” Watts 

9. Public Comment Period.  Comments limited to no longer than 3 minutes per person up to 30
minutes total for the period.

All Speakers are asked to identify themselves for the record prior to speaking, and are asked to 
address their comments to Council.  This portion of the meeting is for the public to make 
comments, raise concerns, or address items to Council about specific items on the agenda for 
Council consideration.  Council uses this time to hear from the public, but typically will not 
respond, but rather take the matter under advisement for later in the meeting, or future meetings. 

Actions Items 

10. Old Business
A. Financial Policies

11. New Business
A. N/A

12. Adjournment



                          
                    TOWN OF 
          GLASGOW VIRGINIA                               

 

 
PO Box 326 - 1100 Blue Ridge Road - Glasgow, Virginia 24555  

Phone: (540) 258-2246  Fax: (540) 258-1325  Website: http://www.glasgowvirginia.org 

 
 

Public Comment Guidelines 
 

 
 
How and What -A sign-in sheet will be placed near the Council Room door for citizens who wish to speak 
during Public Comment.  Comments may only be on items specifically on the agenda.  Other issues or concerns 
should be addressed with the appropriate Town Staff during Town Hall business hours.  Citizens should list 
their name, address, and topic to be addressed.  After all speakers who signed up have spoken, anyone else 
interested in speaking will be given the opportunity to speak on items specifically on the agenda before ending 
the public comment period. 
 
Amount of Time -Speakers are limited to three minutes and a maximum of two (2) items and or topics.  The 
second topic must be addressed after all other speakers have finished.  There is a maximum time limit of 30 
minutes allocated to Public Comment in any one meeting.  If the number of individuals on the sign-up sheet 
would exceed the allotted 30-minute time-frame, the Mayor or Town Manager has the latitude to place a shorter 
limit on individuals.  The Mayor or Town Manager has the latitude to ask Council to extend the public comment 
period another 15 minutes by roll call vote.  This can be done up to a maximum of two (2) times, capping the 
public comment period to one (1) hour.  
 
Conduct -Speakers shall by recognized by the Mayor and or Town Manager and shall direct all comments and 
or questions to the Council as a whole (not individual members or employees of the Council).  In maintaining 
decorum, debate and dialogue with the Council, Mayor, and or Town Manager is not allowed during public 
comment.  Members in the audience who speak out of turn or are acting in a disruptive manor in the meeting 
shall receive one (1) warning before being asked (escorted) to leave.  If necessary the Mayor, Council, or Town 
Manager, may bring formal charges for disruption of a public meeting and or the like. 
 
Language -Profane or vulgar language, partisan political statements, or comments related to the conduct or 
performance of Council members or staff are not appropriate in this setting.  Members in the audience who 
speak in this manor shall receive one (1) warning before being asked (escorted) to leave.  If necessary the 
Mayor, Council, or Town Manager, may bring formal charges for disruption of a public meeting and or the like. 
 
Council -Members are not expected to respond to questions or comments unless the Mayor or Town Manager 
deems such response appropriate. Council members may seek clarification or additional information from 
speakers through the Mayor or Town Manager.   
 
Record -Speakers are to provide a copy of remarks to the Administrative Assistant (Deputy Clerk), if in 
writing.  



                          

                    TOWN OF 
          GLASGOW VIRGINIA                               

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
PO Box 326 - 1100 Blue Ridge Road - Glasgow, Virginia 24555  

Phone: (540) 258-2246  Fax: (540) 258-1325  Website: http://www.glasgowvirginia.org 

 
 

Executive Session Procedures 
 
 

Executive Session 
 
Executive Session Section 2.2-3711 A.1, A.3,A.5, A.6, A.7& A.19of the Code of Virginia, 1950, as amended, 
for the purpose of discussing Personnel, Real Estate, Prospective Industry, Investment of Funds, Litigation and 
Public Safety 
 
Motion by _________ and Seconded by _________ 
 
 
 
Going into Closed Session 
 
Whereas, the Town of Glasgow Town Council has convened an executive meeting on this date pursuant to an 
affirmative recorded vote and in accordance with the provisioins of the Virginia Freedom of Information Act; 
and 
 
Whereas Section 2.2-3711 of the Code of Virginia requires a certification by the Town of Glasgow Town 
Council that such executive meeting was conducted in conformity with Virginia law; 
 
 
 
Leaving Closed Session 
 
Now, therefore be it resolved that the Town of Glasgow Town Council hereby certifies that to the best of each 
member’s knowledge (i) only public business matters lawfully exempted from open meeting requirement by 
Virginia were discussed in the executive meeting to which this certification resolution applies and (ii) only such 
public business matters as were identified in the motion convening the executive meeting were heard, discussed, 
or considered by the Town of Glasgow Town Council. 
 
Motion by _________ and Seconded by _________ that to the best of my knowledge (i) only public business 
matters lawfully exempted from open meeting requirements under Section 2.2-3711 (A) of the Code of 
Virginia, 1950, as amended, and (ii) only such public business matters as were identified in the motion by 
which the closed meeting was convened were heard, discussed or considered in the meeting. 
 

 







                          
TOWN OF 

                        GLASGOW, VIRGINIA                              
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
PO Box 326 - 1100 Blue Ridge Road - Glasgow, Virginia 24555  

Phone: (540) 258-2246  Fax: (540) 258-1325  Website: http://www.glasgowvirginia.org 

 

RESOLUTION  IN  APPRECIATION  FOR 
OUTSTANDING  PUBLIC  SERVICE  BY  ERIC S. POLLITT 

 
 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENT, that the Town of Glasgow hereby officially recognizes Eric S. Pollitt for 
his distinguished service to the Town of Glasgow as the Town Manager since April of 2019. 
 
WHEREAS,  Eric Pollitt  displayed  great  leadership  while  serving  this  community  whose  accomplishments  and  

legacy  will impact  the  Town  of  Glasgow  in  the  decades  to  come; and   
 
WHEREAS, Eric Pollitt  in  the  first  120  days  of  his  tenure,  created  the  Town’s  current  website; and 
 
WHEREAS, Eric Pollitt constructed  organizational  and  administrative  structure  by,  creating  committees  outlining  

roles  and  responsibilities,  organizing  and  hosting  the  first  annual  Council  Retreat  for  goal  setting, 
and  facilitated  the  Town’s  Charter  Review  and  Update  Process; and 

 
WHEREAS, Eric Pollitt  secured  the  Community  Development  Block  Grant  Planning  Grant  for  the Town’s 

business  district  which  will  lead  to  future  development  and  economic  growth  for  the  Town; and 
 
WHEREAS, Eric Pollitt  oversaw  the  VDOT  Multi-Purpose  Trail  Project  to  construction; and 
 
WHEREAS, Eric Pollitt  is  responsible  for  the  development  of  the  events  facility  Locher  Field,  created  the  

Town’s  first  Summer  Concert  Series  “Rockin’  the  Gorge”, thus  ultimately  leading  to  the  
Rockbridge  County  Fair  coming  to  Town; and 

 
WHEREAS, Eric Pollitt  identified  the  opportunity  to  save  and  earn  more  money  by  switching  from  BB&T  to 

Corner  Stone  a  community  based  bank; and 
 
WHEREAS, Eric Pollitt  implemented  the  Town’s  first  delinquent  tax  program  collecting  on  cases  over  15  

years old,  increasing  revenue  without  increasing  taxes; and 
 
WHEREAS,  Eric Pollitt  was  instrumental  in  rehabbing  the  Town’s park system receiving,  new paint  for  the  

metal  playground  equipment,  re-staining  of  the picnic shelters,  and  transformation  of  the  basketball  
court  which  now  has  two  full-sized  courts  with  painted  lines; and  

 
WHEREAS,  Eric Pollitt  set a  new  precedent  and  standard  for  the  budget  process  in  Glasgow  with  transparency  

and  technology.  He  is  responsible  for  the  creation  of  the  Town’s  first  ever  5-Year  Capital  
Improvement  Plan  and  shaped  the  budget  for  long-term  financial  sustainability; and 

 
WHEREAS,  Eric Pollitt  brought  respect,  honor,  and  integrity  to  the  Community  of  Glasgow,  Office  of  Town  

Manager,  and  the  Town  Council  by  leading  by  example,  exhibiting  the highest  level  of ethics  and  
professionalism,  and  raising  expectations  and  standards  for  the  Office of Town Manager; and  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED:  that the Mayor and Town Council of Glasgow, Virginia does hereby 
express its deep gratitude and appreciation to Eric S. Pollitt for his time-honored legacy of dedication, enthusiasm and 
outstanding public service given to the Community of Glasgow and wishes him only the best for his future endeavors.     
 
INTRODUCED AND PASSED by the Mayor and Town Council of Glasgow, Virginia at a Regular Meeting on the 
Eighth Day of September, 2020.  
 
 

 
_________________________________ _________________________________ 
Malcolm “Shane” Watts, Mayor   Sonny Williams, Councilman   

 
 

_________________________________ _________________________________ 
Aaron Britton, Councilman    Andrea Bradley, Councilwoman 

 
 

__________________________________ __________________________________ 
Andy Ryan, Councilman    Barrett McFaddin, Councilman 



TOWN OF 
   GLASGOW, VIRGINIA

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Malcolm “Shane” Watts 
Mayor 

Town Council: 
Andrea Bradley, 2021 

Barrett McFaddin, 2021 

Aaron Britton, 2020 

Andy Ryan, 2020 

Sonny Williams, 2020 

Eric S. Pollitt  
Town Manager 
epollitt@glasgowvirginia.org 

Jane Higginbotham 
Sr. Administrative Assistant 
jhigginbotham@glasgowvirginia.org 

Grace Crickenberger 
Town Attorney 

Angel Poole 
Chief of Police 
apoole@glasgowvirginia.org 

Jeff Rankin 
Wastewater Operations 
jrankin@glasgowvirginia.org 

Chris Flint 
Public Works  
cflint@glasgowvirginia.org 

MEMORANDUM 
CHARTER REVIEW COMMITTEE 

Date: August 18th, 2020 

From: Eric S. Pollitt – Town Manager 

To: Mayor & Council;  Grace Crickenberger 

Subject: Charter Public Hearing and Adoption Countdown 

CC: Jane Higginbotham;  Charter Review Committee;  Delegate Campbell 

Below is a summary of the our estimated timeline: 

Reports and Updates 

1. Adoption
• We need to advertise for the public hearing and a summary of the

new charter being requested 10 days in advance in the News Gazette
to meet our legal requirements

• Our next charter meeting is scheduled for the 3rd of September.  This
would not give us the proper time to make changes, advertise, and
adopt at the September Council meeting the following week.

• I’d like for us to discuss a draft charter at the September Council
meeting at a 6pm work session.  This will allow for everyone to give
input before advertising.

• I’m proposing we schedule a special meeting on September 22nd to
allow for us to meeting our advertising requirements and hold a
public hearing for adoption.  If further changes are needed we can
make them and advertise for the October 13th Council meeting.

• Timeline
 September 3rd Charter meeting
 September 8th Discuss initial draft to be advertised on the 9th at

Council meeting in work session format
 September 9th Advertise initial draft by Charter Review

Committee, and public hearing set for Sept. 22nd

 September 22nd Host public hearing on initial draft charter
 If Needed - Advertise draft changes, and public hearing set for regular Council meeting on

October 13th

 If Needed - October 13th host public hearing on charter after 1st draft changes at Sept. 22nd

meeting



CHARTER OF THE TOWN OF GLASGOW 

Article 1. - Incorporation and Boundaries  

§ 1.1. - Incorporation.  

All of the territory in Rockbridge county contained within the following limits, namely: 

Beginning at the confluence of North and James rivers, thence up the north bank of James river 
at low-water mark to a point opposite the extension of the western line of Thirteenth street; 
thence with the western line of said street to its intersection with the northern line of Rockbridge 
road; thence with the northern line of Rockbridge road to its intersection with the eastern line of 
the fifty acres reservation of Mistress E. G. Johns; thence with said line of Mistress Johns' fifty 
acres tract to its intersection with the northern boundary line of the right of way of the Norfolk 
and Western railway; thence with said line of said railway to its intersection with the western line 
of Blue Ridge road; thence with said line of Blue Ridge road to its intersection with the northern 
line of Shawnee street; thence with the northern line of Shawnee street extended to its 
intersection with North river at low-water mark; thence along the west bank of North river at 
low-water mark to the beginning (which boundaries and those parts of North and James rivers 
and said streets, places and roads are laid off and described in the plat or map of the subdivision 
of the lands of the Rockbridge company into lots, recorded in the clerk's office of the county 
court of Rockbridge county, in deed-book number fifty-eight, at pages one and two), as enlarged 
and modified by the metes and bounds described in a certain order of annexation signed 
November 16, 1959, and of record in the Circuit Court of the County of Rockbridge, shall 
constitute the town of Glasgow, and the forty-fourth and forty-sixth chapters of the Code of 
Virginia, edition of 1887, as far as consistent with this act, shall be applicable to said town; and 
the council of said town may from time to time enlarge the boundaries of said town by adding 
thereto the lots of such persons as desire to be included in said corporation, and who shall make 
application in writing therefor to said council. (1892, c. 486; 1898, c. 376; 1960, c. 42)  

Article 2. - Powers  

§ 2.1. - General grant of powers.  

The town shall have and may exercise all powers that are now or may hereafter be conferred 
upon or delegated to cities and towns under the Constitution and general laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia. It is intended that the town shall possess all powers which, under the 
Constitution, it would be competent for this charter to enumerate specifically, and no 
enumeration of particular powers shall be held to be exclusive but in addition to this general 
grant. 

§ 2.2. - Construction.  



The powers that are now or may hereafter be conferred upon or delegated to the town under the 
Constitution and general laws of the Commonwealth and this charter shall be construed liberally 
when such powers are exercised by the town. 

§ 2.3. - Adoption of certain sections of the Code of Virginia.  

The powers set forth in Chapter 11 (§ 15.2-1100 et seq.) and Chapter 49 (§ 15.2-4900 et seq.) of 
Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia (1950), and any acts amendatory thereof or supplemental 
thereto, are hereby conferred on and vested in the town. 

§ 2.4. - Eminent domain.  

The town is hereby empowered to acquire by condemnation, gift, lease, purchase or bequest, 
property, real or personal, or any interest or estate therein, either within or without its corporate 
limits, for any of its proper purposes, and may sell, lease, manage, and control such property as 
its interests require, and in such manner as the council deems expedient.  

The town shall also have all powers of eminent domain that are now or may be granted to a 
municipal corporation under the laws of the Commonwealth. 

Article 3. - The Council  

§ 3.1. - Definitions.  

As used in this charter, the term "officer" refers to council members and persons appointed by 
and responsible to the council, such as the town clerk, the town manager, the town attorney and 
the town treasurer; the term "officials" refers to administrative department heads; and all other 
persons employed by the town are designated "employees." 

§ 3.2. - General powers and duties of the council.  

The government of the town shall be vested in the council, which shall have the power to enact 
and enforce ordinances and resolutions to carry into effect all powers granted by this charter and 
by law. The council shall be responsible for the determination of all matters of policy for the 
town and for ensuring the implementation thereof by the town manager and town administration. 

§ 3.3. - Composition and qualifications.  

The council shall be composed of a mayor, who shall be elected from the town at large, and six 
council members to be elected from the town at large. The mayor shall be a member of the 
council. The council members shall be qualified voters of the town. 

§ 3.4. - Election and term of office.  

The government of the said town shall be vested in a mayor and a council of six members 
besides the mayor (who shall be ex officio a member of the council and preside at all meetings 



thereof), who shall be residents of said town, and shall be elected in accordance with the 
provisions of general law for terms of two years, by those qualified to vote for members of the 
general assembly and who shall have been residents within the boundaries of the corporation for 
three months next preceding the election, and by no other person. The council may by ordinance 
establish a system of staggered terms for election of council members. The mayor and council 
shall remain in office until their successors are elected and qualified in their stead, but no longer. 
(1892, c. 486; 2004, c. 564) 

§ 3.5. - Voters of the town.  

The voters of the town shall be the actual residents of the town who are qualified to vote for 
members of the General Assembly. 

§ 3.6. - Compensation; expenses.  

The council may determine the annual salary of its members by ordinance or resolution. 

§ 3.7. - Mayor and vice-mayor.  

The mayor shall preside at meetings of the council, shall be recognized as head of the town 
government for all ceremonial purposes, for purposes of military law, and for the service of civil 
processes but shall have no administrative or judicial duties. The mayor shall not have the 
authority to veto any action of Council. The Mayor shall give no vote in the Council except in 
case of a tie, when he shall give the casting vote.  

At the first meeting of the council in January of each even-numbered year, the council shall elect 
from its members a vice-mayor who shall serve for a term of two years. The vice-mayor shall act 
as mayor during the absence or disability of the mayor. 

§ 3.8. - Absence or disability of mayor and vice-mayor.  

If both the mayor and vice-mayor are absent or unable to act, the council shall, by a majority 
vote of the members present, elect from its members a person to serve as acting mayor until 
either the mayor or vice-mayor is present and able to act. The person so elected shall possess the 
powers and discharge the duties of the mayor during such period of time. Whenever it is 
necessary to elect an acting mayor pursuant to this section, in the absence of both the mayor and 
vice-mayor, the town clerk or acting town clerk shall call the meeting of the council to order and 
shall preside during the meeting until council elects an acting mayor. This shall not be construed 
to vest in the clerk any of the powers and duties of the mayor, except as expressly stated in this 
section. 

§ 3.9. - Prohibitions.  

Except as otherwise authorized by law, a member of council shall not be eligible as such member 
during his tenure of office, or for one year thereafter, to any compensated town employment. If 



appointed by the council to a board or commission, a member of council may be compensated as 
a member of the board or commission.  

Neither the council nor any of its members shall in any manner dictate the appointment or 
removal of any town administrative official or employee whom the town manager or any of his 
subordinates are empowered to appoint or prevent the town manager from exercising his own 
judgment in the appointment of officials or employees in the town's administrative service.  

Except for the purpose of discussions, inquiries and official investigations, the council and its 
members shall deal with and communicate with town's administrative service, officials and 
employees who are subject to the direction and supervision of the manager solely through the 
manager, and neither the council nor its members shall give orders to any such official or 
employee, either publicly or privately. 

§ 3.10. - Vacancies.  

The office of a council member shall become vacant upon his death, resignation, or removal 
from office in a manner authorized by law. Vacancies on the council shall be filled for the 
unexpired portion of the term by a majority vote of the members of the council.   

If the vacancy is the mayor's position, then the vice-mayor shall then become the mayor, and 
council shall, at the next meeting of council, elect a new vice-mayor to fill the unexpired term of 
the former vice-mayor.  

§ 3.11. - Town clerk and Town treasurer.  

The council shall appoint a Town Clerk who shall serve at the pleasure of the council. The Clerk 
shall give notice of council meetings to its members and the public, keep the journal of its 
proceedings, keep all papers, documents and records pertaining to the town, keep and attest the 
town seal, and perform such duties as are assigned to the clerk by this charter or by the council. 
The council shall appoint a Town Treasurer who shall serve at the pleasure of council and shall 
perform such duties as are assigned to the Treasurer by the council. The Town Clerk and the 
Town Treasurer may, at Council's option, be the same person. 

§ 3.12. - Independent audit.  

The council shall provide for an independent annual audit of all the town accounts and may 
provide for such more frequent audits as it deems necessary. Such audits shall be made by a 
certified public accountant or firm of such accountants who have no personal interest, direct or 
indirect, in the fiscal affairs of the town government or any of its officers. 

§ 3.13. - Procedure.  

The council shall meet regularly at least once in every month, at such times and places as the 
council may prescribe by ordinance. Special meetings may be held on the call of the mayor or of 
any two members upon no less than twenty-four hours' notice to each member, except in cases of 



an emergency when the time limit may be waived. No business shall be transacted by the council 
in such special meeting that has not been stated in the notice unless all members of the council 
are present and give their unanimous consent to the consideration of such business.  

No vote shall be reconsidered or rescinded at any special meeting unless at such special meeting 
there are present as large a number of members as were present when such vote was taken.  

The council shall determine its own rules and order of business and shall provide for keeping a 
journal of its proceedings. This journal shall be a public record.  

Voting, except on procedural motions, shall be by roll call and the ayes and nays shall be 
recorded in the journal. Council may elect to install electronic equipment in its Council 
Chambers so as to provide for an electronic roll call and voting. Each member shall cast either an 
aye vote or a nay vote, except in those situations in which a member must abstain from voting 
due to a conflict in interest. Four members of the council shall constitute a quorum. No action of 
the council, except as provided in the preceding sentence, shall be valid or binding unless 
adopted by the affirmative vote of four or more members of the council. 

§ 3.14. - Town attorney.  

An attorney shall be appointed by and serve at the pleasure of the council. They shall be 
qualified to practice law in the Commonwealth of Virginia. They shall serve as chief legal 
advisor to the council and to the town administration. They need not be a resident of the town at 
the time of his appointment or while in office. 

§ 3.15. - Committees, boards and commissions.  

The council may create committees, boards and commissions to be composed of such numbers 
of citizens, or persons, as the council may deem expedient as authorized by law. The council 
shall appoint the members, prescribe the compensation, if any, and the powers and duties of such 
committees, boards and commissions consistent with the general law.  

All members of committees, boards and commissions appointed by the town council may be 
removed by the council unless otherwise provided by the general law.  

The mayor shall be an ex officio member of each committee but shall not have voting powers on 
committees unless granted by council. 

§ 3.16. – Appointment of one person to more than one office.  

The town council may appoint the same person to more than one appointive office, subject to the 
limitations of Article VII, Section 6 of the Virginia Constitution. 

Article 4. - The Town Manager  

§ 4.1. - Appointment, qualifications and compensation.  



The town council may appoint a chief administrative officer of the town who shall be called the 
town manager, fix his salary and delegate to him such administrative duties, powers and 
responsibilities as it believes to be in the best interest of the town. During his tenure of office the 
town manager shall reside within the County of Rockbridge, but may reside outside of the town 
while in office only with the prior approval of the council. The town manager shall serve at and 
during the pleasure of the town council.  

§ 4.2. - Powers and duties of the town manager.  

The manager shall be responsible to the council for the proper management and administration of 
all town affairs placed in his charge by or under this charter. The manager shall have the 
following powers and duties. The manager shall:  

1. Appoint and, when deemed necessary for the good of the service, suspend or remove 
any town employee or appointive administrative official provided for, by or under this 
charter, except as otherwise provided by law, this charter or personnel rules adopted 
pursuant to this charter. The manager may authorize any administrative official who is 
subject to the manager's direction and supervision to exercise these powers with respect 
to subordinates in that official's department, office or agency.  

2. Direct and supervise the administration of all departments, offices and agencies of the 
town, except as otherwise provided by this charter or by other law.  

3. Attend all council meetings and shall have the right to take part in discussion but may 
not vote.  

4. See that all laws, provisions of this charter and acts of the council, subject to 
enforcement by the manager or by officials subject to the manager's direction and 
supervision, are faithfully executed.  

5. Prepare and submit the annual budget and capital program to the council, and shall be 
responsible for the execution of the budget.  

6. Examine regularly the books and papers of every official and department of the town 
and report to the council the condition in which he finds them.  

7. Make such other reports as the council may require concerning the operations of town 
departments, offices and agencies subject to the manager's direction and supervision.  

8. Keep the council fully advised as to the financial condition and future needs of the 
town and make such recommendations to the council concerning the affairs of the town 
as the manager deems desirable.  

9. Perform such other duties as are specified in this charter or may be prescribed by the 
council. 



§ 4.3. - Temporary transfer of personnel between departments and removal of personnel.  

The town manager shall have the power, whenever the interests of the town require, to assign 
employees of any department, bureau, office or agency under his supervision to the temporary 
performance of duties in another department, bureau, office or agency.  

§ 4.4. - Relations with boards, commissions and agencies.  

The town manager shall have the right to attend and participate in the proceedings of, but not to 
vote in the meetings of all boards, commissions or agencies created by this Charter or by 
ordinance and any other board or commission the town council may designate.  Nothing herein 
shall prevent council from appointing the town manager as a voting member of any board, 
commission or agency for which he otherwise would be eligible for membership. 

§ 4.5. - Acting town manager.  

The town council may designate a person to act as town manager in case of the absence, 
incapacity, death or resignation of the town manager, until his return to duty or the appointment 
of his successor.   

§ 4.6. - Removal.  

The council may remove the manager at any time at the pleasure of the council. The action of the 
council in suspending or removing the manager shall be final, it being the intention of this 
charter to vest all authority and fix all responsibility for any such suspension or removal in the 
council. 

Article 5. - Administrative Departments  

§ 5.1. - Creation of departments.  

The council may establish all departments, offices and agencies it determines are necessary for 
the proper administration of the town with such powers and duties and subject to those 
regulations it deems proper, consistent with the provisions of this charter and the Constitution 
and general laws of the Commonwealth. 

§ 5.2. - Direction by manager.  

All departments, offices and agencies except as otherwise provided by this charter or by general 
law shall be under the direction of the town manager and shall be administered by an official 
appointed by and subject to the direction and supervision of the manager. 

Article 6. - Financial Procedures  

§ 6.1. - Fiscal year.  



The fiscal year of the town shall begin on the first day of July and end on the last day of June. 

§ 6.2. - Submission of budget and budget message.  

On or before the first day of May of each year, the manager shall submit to the council a budget 
for the ensuing fiscal year and an accompanying message. 

§ 6.3. - Budget message.  

The manager's message shall explain the budget both in fiscal terms and in terms of the work 
programs. It shall explain the proposed financial policies of the town for the ensuing fiscal year, 
describe the important features of the budget, indicate any major changes from the current year 
in financial policies, expenditures, and revenues together with the reasons for such changes, 
summarize the town's debt position and include such other material as the manager deems 
desirable. 

§ 6.4. - Budget.  

The budget shall provide a complete financial plan of all town funds and activities for the 
ensuing fiscal year and, except as required by law or this charter, shall be in such form as the 
manager deems desirable or the council may require. In organizing the budget the manager shall 
utilize the most feasible combination of expenditure classification by fund, organization unit, 
program, purpose or activity, and object. The budget shall begin with a clear, general summary 
of its contents; shall show in detail all estimated income, indicating the proposed tax levies, and 
all proposed expenditures, including debt service, for the ensuing fiscal year; and shall be so 
arranged as to show comparative figures for actual income and expenditures of the preceding 
fiscal year. The budget shall indicate in separate sections:  

1. Proposed expenditures for current operations during the ensuing fiscal year, detailed 
by offices, departments and agencies in terms of their respective work programs, and the 
method of financing such expenditures;  

2. Proposed capital expenditures during the ensuing fiscal year, detailed by offices, 
departments and agencies when practicable, and the proposed method of financing each 
such capital expenditure; and  

3. Anticipated net income or net loss for the ensuing fiscal year of each utility owned or 
operated by the town and the proposed method of its disposition; the manager shall 
include in the budget subsidiary budgets for each such utility giving detailed income and 
expenditure information and proposed utility rates.  

The total of proposed expenditures shall not exceed the total of estimated available funds. 

§ 6.5. - Council action on budget.  



Pursuant to the provisions of general law, the council shall publish a brief synopsis of the budget 
in one or more newspapers having general circulation in the town and the time and place of a 
public hearing on the budget.  

After the public hearing, the council may adopt the budget with or without any amendment to 
increase, decrease, or change expenditures, revenues, programs, tax levies, or any other 
amendment that council deems necessary. In amending the budget, council may add or increase 
programs or amounts and may delete or decrease any programs or amounts, except expenditures 
required by law or for debt service or for estimated cash deficit, provided that no amendment to 
the budget shall increase the authorized expenditures to any amount greater than the total of 
estimated available funds.  

The council shall, by ordinance or resolution, adopt the budget before the first day of the fiscal 
year for which it is adopted, and said ordinance or resolution shall appropriate the amounts 
specified in the budget as expenditures from the funds indicated in the budget. 

§ 6.6. - Public records.  

Copies of the budget and the capital program as adopted shall be public records and shall be 
made available to the public at suitable places in the town. 

§ 6.7. - Amendments after adoption.  

The council may amend the budget during the fiscal year pursuant to the provisions of general 
law by the adoption of an ordinance or resolution.  

To meet a public emergency affecting life, health, property or the public peace, the council may 
make emergency appropriations. Such appropriations may be made by ordinance or resolution. 
To the extent that there are no available unappropriated funds to meet such appropriations, the 
council may, with the adoption of such ordinances or resolutions, authorize the issuance of 
emergency notes, which may be renewed from time to time, all as may be authorized by the 
Constitution and general law, but the emergency notes and renewals of any fiscal year shall be 
paid not later than the last day of the fiscal year next succeeding that in which the emergency 
appropriation was made.  

If at any time during the fiscal year it appears probable to the manager that the funds available 
will be insufficient to meet the amount appropriated, then the manager shall report to the council 
without delay, indicating the estimated amount of the deficit, any remedial action taken and 
recommendations as to any other steps to be taken. The council shall then take such further 
action as it deems necessary to prevent or minimize any deficit and for that purpose it may by 
ordinance or resolution reduce one or more appropriations. 

§ 6.8. - Lapse of appropriations.  

Every appropriation, except an appropriation for a capital expenditure, shall lapse at the close of 
the fiscal year to the extent that it has not been expended or encumbered by the manager. An 



appropriation for a capital expenditure shall continue in force until the purpose for which it was 
made has been accomplished or abandoned. 

§ 6.9. - Debts and bonds.  

The council of the town shall be empowered to borrow such sum or sums of money as may be 
necessary or convenient, subject to such limitations that are now or may be imposed by the 
Constitution and the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. The council of the town shall be 
empowered to issue revenue bonds as may be necessary or convenient in the manner prescribed 
by law. 

Article 7. - General Provisions  

§ 7.1. - Charter amendment.  

Amendments to this charter may be made only in accordance with the procedure specified in the 
general laws of the Commonwealth. 

§ 7.2. - Severability.  

If any provision of this charter is held invalid, the other provisions of the charter shall not be 
affected thereby. If the application of the charter or any of its provisions to any person or 
circumstances is held invalid, the application of the charter and its provisions to other persons 
shall not be affected thereby. 

§ 7.3. - Oaths of office and official bonds.  

All elected officers of the town shall take the oath of office and execute such bonds as may be 
required by general law, by this charter, or by ordinance or resolution of the town council and 
file duplicate certificates with the town clerk and the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Rockbridge 
County before entering upon the discharge of their duties. If the requirements of this section have 
not been complied with by any officer within thirty days after the term of office shall have begun 
or after his appointment to fill a vacancy, then such office shall be considered vacant unless 
general law otherwise provides, in which event general law shall prevail. 

§ 7.4. - Books, records, et cetera.  

All books, records and documents used by any elected or appointed town officer, official or 
employee in his office or pertaining to his duties shall be deemed to be the property of the town. 
Any person designated by this charter, the general laws of the Commonwealth or the Glasgow 
Town Code as responsible for the keeping of such books, records and documents shall, within 
ten days after the end of his term of office, or within ten days after the date of his resignation or 
removal from office, deliver to the town clerk all such books, records, documents and town 
property. Upon the end of any such person's term of office, or upon the resignation or removal 
from office of any such person, the town clerk shall provide all such persons written notice of the 
requirements of this provision of this charter. Any person failing to deliver such books, records, 



documents and property shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof, 
shall be fined no less than one hundred dollars and not more than five hundred dollars, or 
imprisoned not exceeding six months, or both, at the direction of the court or jury before whom 
the case is tried.  

§ 7.5. – Disclosure of Interest.  

The town council is hereby empowered to enact a conflict of interest and disclosure ordinance to 
govern elected and/or appointed town officials not inconsistent with the general law. 
 
State Law reference— State and Local Government Conflict of Interests Act, Code of Virginia, § 
2.1-639.1 et seq.; ethics in public contracting, Code of Virginia, § 11-72 et seq. 
 
Article 8. - Transitional Provisions  

§ 8.1. - Ordinances.  

All ordinances, resolutions, orders and regulations of the town not inconsistent with this charter 
shall remain in full force and effect until amended or repealed by the town council. Ordinances, 
resolutions, orders and regulations that are in force when this charter becomes effective and that 
are inconsistent with this charter are repealed. 

§ 8.2. - Continuity of terms of officers.  

The officers of the town who were in office immediately prior to the effective date of this charter 
shall remain in office until the expiration of their several terms, or until their successors have 
been duly elected and qualified. 

§ 8.3. - Citation of act.  

This act may for all purposes be referred to or cited as the charter for the Town of Glasgow, 
Virginia, of the year 2021.  




